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I. STATEMENT

A. Procedural history.

1. On December 5, 2016, the Public Utilities Commission of the State of Colorado (Commission) issued Civil Penalty Assessment Notice or Notice of Complaint to Appear (CPAN) No. 116668 against Alex Sannoh, Doing Business As # 001 Allstar Limousine & Sedan Service (Respondent or Sannoh) and commenced this proceeding.  

2. The matter was referred to an Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) for resolution by minute entry during the Commission’s Weekly Meeting held on January 11, 2017.

3. The CPAN contains three Counts, citing Sannoh for three separate violations of rules of the Commission in Aurora, Colorado – one on August 31, 2016 and two on September 5, 2016, as follows:  

(1)
On September 5, 2016, Respondent violated Rule 6102(a)(1) of the Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-6 (2014), and 49 Code of Federal Regulations (C.F.R.) § 396.17(a) incorporated therein by reference,
 by “Operating a commercial motor vehicle not periodically inspected (Vehicle:  Unit #1);” 

(2)
On August 31, 2016, Respondent violated Rule 6103(c)(II)(D) of 
the Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 CCR 723-6, 
by “Failing to maintain and retain accurate and true time records, including all supporting documents verifying such time records (Driver:  Alex Sannoh);” and 

(3)
On September 5, 2016, Respondent violated Rule 6105(i)(I) of the Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 CCR 723-6, by “Requiring or permitting a driver to drive if the driver has not complied with the fingerprint requirements of §40-10.1-110 C.R.S. (Driver:  Alex Sannoh).”  

4. For Count 1, the CPAN assessed a civil penalty of $1100.00, plus an additional 15 percent surcharge required by § 24-34-108, C.R.S., for a total of $1265.00.  For Count 2, the CPAN assessed a civil penalty of $500.00, plus the additional 15 percent surcharge, for a total of $575.00.  For Count 3, the CPAN assessed a civil penalty of $275.00, plus the additional 15 percent surcharge, for a total of $316.25.  The total civil penalties assessed in the CPAN are $2,156.25, including the additional surcharges required by § 24-34-108, C.R.S.  (CPAN at 1.)  

The CPAN stated that, if the Respondent were to pay within ten calendar days of receipt of the CPAN, the first civil penalty would be reduced to $632.50, the second would be reduced to $287.50, and the third would be reduced to $158.13, for total reduced civil penalties of $1,078.13, including the 15 percent surcharges.  The CPAN also stated that, if the Respondent 

5. did not pay within ten days, the Staff of the Commission (Staff) would seek civil penalties in the full total amounts for the violations cited in the CPAN.  The CPAN stated further that payment of the assessment is an acknowledgment (i.e., an admission) of liability for the violations cited.  (CPAN at 3.)   

6. The Respondent was served with the CPAN by certified mail on December 2, 2016.  (CPAN at 2; USPS Tracking at 1.)  

7. Respondent did not tender payment of the reduced amount of civil penalties including surcharges, of $1,078.13, within ten-days after his receipt of the CPAN, or by December 12, 2016.  

8. Staff and Sannoh are the Parties to this proceeding.

9. On December 14, 2016, Staff and Sannoh filed a Joint Motion to Approve Stipulation and Settlement Agreement and to Waive Response Time (Joint Motion), as well as the signed Stipulation and Settlement Agreement (Settlement Agreement).  

10. The Joint Motion states that the Parties have reached a comprehensive settlement of the case and that the Settlement Agreement is in the public interest.  The Parties ask the Commission to approve the Settlement Agreement without modification.  The Joint Motion also seeks a waiver of response time to the motion.  

B. The Settlement Agreement.

11. The Settlement Agreement resolves all matters that were raised, or could have been raised, relating to the issues specifically identified and addressed in this Proceeding.  

12. Respondent admitted liability for all the violations cited in the CPAN.

13. In consideration of Respondent’s admission of liability, Staff agreed to reduce the amount of the civil penalty from $2,156.25 to $1,078.13, which Staff concluded is appropriate and in the public interest.  The settled amount of $1,078.13 consists of a $937.51 penalty plus a 15 percent surcharge of $140.62, pursuant to § 24-34-108, C.R.S.

14. In negotiating the reduced civil penalty, the Staff took into account six mitigating factors as prescribed in Rule 1302(b) of the Rules of Practice and Procedure, 4 CCR 723-1 (2015).  The Settlement Agreement cites the following mitigating factors:  

a)
Respondent is a single owner/operator.

b)
The full amount of the CPAN would cause a financial hardship on Respondent.

c)
Respondent immediately contacted the [Commission] regarding the pending CPAN and has been cooperative.

d)
Respondent has been operating since 2008 and has not had any previous enforcement actions.

e)
Respondent has corrected the violations identified in the CPAN.

f)
Imposing these terms [of the Settlement Agreement] is sufficient motivation for Respondent to remain in compliance with the Public Utilities Laws and Commission Rules on a going-forward basis.

15. The total civil penalty will be paid in four installments.  The first installment of $328.13 will be due within 15 days after the effective date of the Commission’s final decision approving the Settlement Agreement.  The following three payments of $250.00 each will be due within 30 days of each prior payment.

16. If Respondent fails to make any payment when due, Respondent will be liable for the full civil penalty amount of $2,156.25, less any payments actually made.  If Respondent fails to make any payment when due, the remaining balance owing on the full civil penalty will be due immediately.
  

17. Respondent agreed that if, during any investigation(s) conducted by Staff within 12 months of the date of the Commission’s final decision in this proceeding, the Commission finds any violation of rules or statutes “of the same nature that gave rise to the CPAN in this proceeding,” Respondent shall be liable for the full civil penalty amount of $2,156.25, less any payments made.  In the event this term of the Settlement Agreement is invoked, the remaining balance owing on the full civil penalty will be due immediately.  Respondent and Staff agree that the specific intent of this provision is to prevent further violations of the Public Utilities Laws and Commission Rules.
  

18. Respondent’s failure to abide by the terms of the Settlement Agreement, or Respondent’s violation of the Settlement Agreement and subsequent failure to complete his payment obligations as set forth in the Settlement Agreement, shall also be deemed a waiver by Respondent of any and all rights to file exceptions and/or a request for rehearing, reargument, and reconsideration, or to file any other form of appeal.  

19. The Settlement Agreement was signed on December 14, 2016, on behalf of the Staff by Cliff Hinson, Manager of the Investigation and Compliance Units, and by Respondent, Alex Sannoh.  

II. FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS  
20. Respondent is an individual and holds PUC Permit No. LL-01713.  Pursuant 
to that authority, Respondent provides luxury limousine service in Colorado under the name 
# 001 Allstar Limousine & Sedan Service.  

21. As a provider of luxury limousine service, Respondent is a motor carrier of passengers subject to limited regulation by the Commission (§ 40-10.1-301 et seq., C.R.S.), and Respondent may be assessed civil penalties for violations of Title 40, Article 10.1, C.R.S., or Commission rules.  (Sections 40-7-112, 40-7-113, 40-7-116, and 40-10.1-304, C.R.S., and Rule 6106, 4 CCR 723-6.)  
22. The CPAN was properly served on Respondent by certified mail, return receipt requested.  Respondent does not dispute service.  

23. Respondent does not challenge the Commission’s jurisdiction.  The record establishes, and the ALJ finds, that the Commission has subject matter jurisdiction over this case and personal jurisdiction over Respondent.  

24. The ALJ finds that he must interpret and clarify two terms in the Settlement Agreement to avoid any future ambiguities or problems in enforcing them, if such enforcement becomes necessary.  The ALJ’s interpretations of these terms of the Settlement Agreement are not modifications to the Settlement Agreement, but rather reasonable clarifications of the language in these two terms consistent with the intent of the Settlement Agreement.  

25. First, the ALJ construes the phrase “will be due immediately,” in Paragraphs 5 and 6 on page 3 of the Settlement Agreement, to mean the following:  that within three business days of Respondent missing a payment, Staff must provide meaningful and effective written notice, by Staff’s own choosing, to Respondent that he failed to make a payment by the due date and then, within three business days of receipt of Staff’s written notice, Respondent must tender payment to the Commission of the remaining balance owing on the full civil penalty.  

26. Second, the ALJ construes the phrase “the Commission finds any violations of rules or statutes of the same nature that gave rise to the CPAN in this proceeding,” in Paragraph 6 on page 3 of the Settlement Agreement, to mean the following:  (1) that the “violations of 
rules or statutes of the same nature that gave rise to the CPAN in this proceeding” must be of the same Commission rules that were cited and to which Respondent admitted liability in this Proceeding; and (2) that the Commission must “find” any such violations by Respondent in an administratively final decision of the Commission.  

27. As so interpreted and clarified, the ALJ finds and concludes that the Settlement Agreement is just and reasonable and not contrary to the public interest.  

III. ORDER

A. The Commission Orders That:  

1. The Stipulation and Settlement Agreement, as interpreted and clarified in the Findings and Conclusions set forth above, is approved without modification.  

2. A negotiated, reduced civil penalty of $1,078.13 is assessed on Alex Sannoh, Doing Business As # 001 Allstar Limousine & Sedan Service (Respondent).  

3. Respondent shall pay to the Commission the reduced civil penalty of $1,078.13 in four installments, as follows:  The first installment of $328.13 will be due within 15 days after the effective date of the Commission’s final decision approving the Settlement Agreement.  The following three payments of $250.00 each will be due within 30 days of each prior payment.  Respondent may make each payment to the Commission in person by the due date.  If Respondent submits a payment by U.S. mail, the payment must be made by money order or check and must be received by the Commission not later than the due date.  

4. Respondent shall comply with this Decision and shall make the required installment payments on time until the reduced civil penalty of $1,078.13 is paid in full.  Respondent’s failure to make timely installment payments when due will result in Respondent becoming liable for the full civil penalty amount of $2,156.25, less any payments already made.  Thereupon, the remaining balance owing on the full civil penalty will become due and payable immediately, as that term has been clarified in this Decision.  

5. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

6. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  


a)
If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the Recommended Decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of §40-6-114, C.R.S.


b)
If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in §40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.

7. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.

	           (S E A L)
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Doug Dean, 
Director
	THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO


STEVEN H. DENMAN
________________________________
                     Administrative Law Judge




�  Rule 6102(a)(I), 4 CCR 723-6, incorporates by reference 49 C.F.R. Part 396, including 49 C.F.R. § 396.17(a).  


�  Stipulation and Settlement Agreement, ¶ 2 at page 2.  


�  Stipulation and Settlement Agreement, ¶ 5 at page 3.  


�  Stipulation and Settlement Agreement, ¶ 6 at page 3.  
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